

Investments

Terms and conditions for Sanlam unit trusts

These terms and conditions apply to your investment with us. It is your responsibility to make sure that you understand them. If there is anything that is not clear, please contact our Client Contact Centre at 0860 100 266 before you apply for the investment.

In these terms and conditions:

CISCA	Collective Investment Schemes Control Act, 45 of 2002	
Deed	The trust deed of the Scheme (as amended and added to by the supplemental deeds from time to time)	
MDD	Means the Minimum Disclosure Document	
Scheme	The unit trust scheme managed by Sanlam Collective Investments (RF) (Pty) Ltd	
You	means the owner of the investment named on the Application Form	
We	means Sanlam Collective Investments (RF) (Pty) Ltd (1967/002865/07).	

Table of Contents

1.	AGREEMENT	. 2
2	ABOUT THIS INVESTMENT	2
	GIVING US INSTRUCTIONS	
	ABOUT YOUR PAYMENTS RECEIVED	
	ABOUT FEES AND COSTS	
6.	ABOUT UNCLAIMED ASSETS	. 7
7.	SHARI'AH COMPLIANT FUNDS	. 7
8.	USING AND SHARING YOUR PERSONAL INFORMATION	. 7
9.	OUR CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY	. 8
10.	COMPLAINTS	. 8

Your contract with us

You contract with us is made up of:

- 1. The signed Application form
- 2. These terms and conditions
- 3. The Deed of the Scheme. We will send you a copy of the deed on request.

In addition, the rates of fees and minimum investment amounts as set out on the MDD form an integral part of your agreement with us. The MDD also contains other important information that applies to your Investment.

1. Agreement

By signing the Application form, you confirm that:

- 1. You have the authority and legal competence to enter this transaction.
- You confirm that you have received legal and financial advice where required.
- 3. You have read and understood the contents of this application form and annexures and agree to its terms and conditions.
- 4. You understand that the Deed applies to this investment.
- 5. The information you have given about your country of citizenship and country of tax residence is correct.
- 6. The money you invest comes from a legitimate source. You agree to answer any questions on the source of money you use for this investment and give extra information, where necessary. (This is required by the Prevention of Organised Crime Act, 1998.)
- 7. You are aware of and consent to all costs and charges relating to this investment.
- 8. You understand that there is no guarantee with regards to the capital investment.
- 9. You are familiar with the content and you understand the relevant minimum disclosure documents.
- 10. You understand that it is your obligation to familiarise yourself with and accept the risks associated with this investment
- 11. You accept full responsibility for informing Sanlam of any changes in your personal information (e.g. change of address, change of surname and contact details).

2. About this investment

About unit trusts

Unit trusts are investments where your money is pooled with money of other investors to buy a collection of assets together. The collection of assets (known as a portfolio) could include shares, bonds, property and cash. The portfolio is divided into many equal units and each investor receives a number of units for the amount they invested. We have established a scheme whereby we can administer multiple portfolios or funds, each having their own investment objective.

The Deed sets out the rules for how we manage the scheme and each fund.

Unit trusts are generally medium to long term investments.

Sanlam Collective Investments, the fund manager and trustee of the Scheme

Sanlam Collective Investments (RF) (Pty) Ltd is the authorised manager of the Scheme (including all funds under the Scheme) in terms of CISCA. The Sanlam Group is a full member of the Association of Savings and Investment South Africa.

We take full legal responsibility for co-branded portfolios, which are funds where we establish and administer the fund, while the management of the assets of the fund and the marketing of the fund is done by the fund manager.

We appoint fund managers to manage the investments of each fund in terms of a mandate which give them the authority to do so. The fund managers are authorised financial services providers in terms of the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act, 2002. The details of the fund manager of a particular fund is set out on the MDD of that fund.

Standard Bank of South Africa Limited is the appointed trustee of the Scheme in terms of the Deed and is authorised in terms of CISCA. The trustee supervises our administration of the Scheme in terms of CISCA and also holds all the assets of the funds in safe custody.

You decide about the suitability of this investment for your needs

By investing in the Sanlam unit trusts, you confirm that:

- 1. You accept the risks associated with this investment.
- 2. We didn't give you any financial or investment advice about the investment.
- 3. You have taken care to consider whether this investment is suitable for your own needs, personal investment objectives and financial situation.

The importance of the minimum disclosure documents (fund fact sheets)

The minimum disclosure documents (MDDs) are documents that explain the nature and performance of the funds you invest in, as well as the applicable risk profile. They also set out the fees, charges, and maximum commissions relevant to each fund. You can find the relevant minimum disclosure documents on our website at www.sanlamunittrusts.co.za or you can call us on 0860 100 266.

By signing this Application Form, you declare that you understand the minimum disclosure documents that are relevant to the funds you choose.

Your investment can go down or up

- 1. The value of units (known as participatory interests) may go up or down.
- 2. Past performance is not necessarily an indication of future performance.
- 3. The capital value and investment return of your portfolio may go up or down. We do not provide any guarantees about the capital or the returns of a portfolio.
- 4. Portfolios that invest in international investments, or investments in foreign securities may carry extra risks and there may be limited market information.

How we calculate the unit prices

- 1. We calculate unit trust prices on a net-asset value basis as set out in the Deed. (The net-asset value is the total value of all assets in the portfolio, including any income that has accrued, minus any allowable deductions from the portfolio, divided by the number of units in the portfolio.) We calculate the price daily and every buy and sell of units will take place at the price that was calculated for that day ("the ruling price").
- 2. Unit trusts are traded at ruling prices using forward pricing. (Forward pricing means that the price used for buy and sell orders of units is the next net-asset value or forward price. That means that the unit price that will be used for a transaction is not known at the time that the instruction is given.).
- 3. The price of units may go up or down according to the value of the underlying assets in the relevant portfolio. This excludes the money-market funds.
- 4. For the Sanlam Alternative Income Fund and any money market funds, the price of each unit is aimed at a constant value. This means that all returns are provided in the form of a distribution and that a change in the capital value will be an exception and only due to abnormal losses

About managing the fund

- 1. We may borrow money in an amount up to 10% of the portfolio's market value, but only when assets cannot be realised to repurchase or cancel participatory interests.
- 2. We can lend the securities of a fund to other parties subject to the requirements of the Deed. This is called scrip lending and is a common practice in financial markets where a party borrows a security that it does not have at a particular point in time for a particular purpose. The party lending the security (which will be us in this instance) earns a lending fee. We will only allow a fund manager to lend securities of a fund if the fund manager can earn an income for the fund without unduly increasing the risk of the fund by doing so. We are not allowed to borrow securities.
- 3. We have the right to close any portfolios for new investors at any time to manage them more efficiently in accordance with their mandates.

About income payments

We distribute all the net income and dividends earned on the underlying investments of a fund to investors. Each investor is entitled to a distribution proportionate to the number of units they hold in the fund. You can choose to receive your distribution as a cash payment, or we can reinvest it on your behalf. If you choose reinvestment, we will purchase more units for you. The reinvestment amounts will have the same value as you would have received had you chosen a cash payment.

Funds can distribute on a monthly, quarterly or bi-annual basis as per the supplemental deed of that fund. You can check the distribution frequency of the funds you have chosen on the MDD. You will receive your distribution payment or reinvestment [within a month] of the date on which the distribution was calculated and declared.

We will pay income payments to your bank account only if the investment transaction (for example, debit orders or deposits) that was used to buy units has been cleared by the bank by the income payment date. If the investment transaction has not cleared, we will reinvest income payments.

You can make changes to your investment.

You can make changes to your investment as your personal circumstances change. You can change your fund choices, sell some or all of your units, and make extra payments into your investment. As changes to your investment could impact your original investment goals, please speak to your financial adviser or broker.

More information about this investment, including brochures, application forms and annual or quarterly reports are available. Please contact our Client Contact Centre.

3. Giving us instructions

Who can give instructions?

We can only accept instructions from and give information to the following people:

- the investor. This is the person who is registered with us as the investor, even if the payer is someone else. We will register the person whose name is completed as the investor on the signed application form as the investor. If the investor is a child, we will give information to the child's parent(s) or guardian(s).
- the authorised signatory (in the case of an investor that is not an individual).
- your duly appointed agent (as per an acceptable power of attorney, to be provided to us)
- another authorised person (such as a curator, executor of a deceased estate or the trustee/liquidator of an insolvent person)
- the appointed financial adviser (if applicable)
- · Any regulatory bodies, as required by law.

A note on accounts for minors

A child under the age of 18 is a minor in South African law which means that they do not have full capacity to conclude transactions. A minor must therefore be represented by one of their parents or guardians in all matters with us.

A child may have one or more than one guardian in which case both guardians have equal rights and responsibilities in respect of the child's account with us. We will only act on instructions from a parent/guardian if they provide us with the necessary documentation required by FICA (Financial Intelligence Centre Act).

If you are not the minor investor's parent or guardian but wish to open an account on their behalf and/or contribute to their investment, you need to ensure that the account is opened by a parent or guardian.

Once a child turns 18 years old, the child will attain full capacity and the parent(s)/guardian(s) will no longer have any rights to the account. The investor (after 18 years of age) can then deal with their account as they deem fit and we are under an obligation to identify and verify their information under FICA. We will request assistance from the parent/guardian that opened the account or who had authority until the investor's 18th birthday to act on the account to ensure that the investor is given control to their account.

Make sure instructions are clear and complete.

An instruction must be **complete**. To be complete, you must:

- 1. Use the correct form for the transaction. (Forms can be obtained from www.sanlaminvestments.com)
- 2. Complete the form and sign wherever relevant.
- 3. Check that the instructions are clear.
- 4. Attach any supporting documents we ask for.

Once we have received the complete instruction, we can process it. Processing does not mean finalising a transaction but rather going through all the steps required to give effect to it. This may take a few hours or a few days depending on the type of transaction.

If an instruction is not complete, processing will be delayed.

Electronic signatures and digital transacting

We use an ordinary electronic signature process as contemplated in section 13(3) of the Electronic Communications and Transactions Act, 2002 for the signing of certain documentation, including where available, application forms. Where applicable, we will make details of the process, including how it works and the security protocols in place, available to you on our website or other means.

By affixing your electronic signature to the Application Form you will agree to be bound by these terms and conditions and any and all amendments or variations thereto. By affixing your electronic signature to any other form of document from time to time, you will agree to be bound by the terms and conditions set out in that document.

You warrant that you are the person affixing your ordinary electronic signature and that you will put in place reasonable measures to ensure that no other persons have access to your ordinary electronic signature. You also acknowledge that you are familiar with the risks of using ordinary electronic signatures as opposed to "wet ink" signatures and that you accept such risk

We may also, from time to time, make solutions available to you or your financial adviser whereby we can receive instructions via digital means (from you or your adviser). Before processing an instruction which we received in this manner, we will ask for your confirmation of the instruction. We will obtain your confirmation via digital means, for example by SMS. You agree that we may act upon instructions received via digital means, that you are familiar with the risks of transacting via digital means and that you accept such risk.

The price of units for the transaction

We price your transaction using the ruling price of the fund for the day the transaction is processed. If we receive your complete instruction before the cut-off time, the transaction will be processed at the price calculated that day. If we receive your complete instruction after the cut-off time, your instruction will stand over to the next day and you will receive the next day's price. The day on which we receive all the required information that will make your instruction complete will be the day on which your instruction is regarded as complete. Any loss caused by a delay in processing due to incomplete information will be for your account.

Check the cut-off times.

There are cut-off times for giving us instructions to perform transactions for you. These are:

- 11:00 for the Sanlam Alternative Income Fund
- 13:00 for money market funds and
- 15:00 for all other funds.

Check the applicable minimum investment amounts.

Minimum amounts apply for certain instructions or funds. These minimum amounts are set out on the MDD and/or our website from time to time. You also must maintain a prescribed minimum balance in your investment account. We will publish this minimum amount on our website.

You undertake that you will periodically increase your contributions to keep up with the minimums. You will also ensure that your account balance remains within these minimums. You will ensure that your balances do not fall below the minimums due to a switch or a disinvestment. We reserve the right to require you to switch or disinvest your entire holding in a fund or the balance of your account if the balance remaining would fall below the prescribed minimums.

When you won't receive interest

We don't pay interest in any of the following circumstances:

- money is deposited for investment in a fund after the cut-off time.
- money is deposited on a non-business day (that is, public holidays, Saturdays, and Sundays). If a debit order collection date falls on a non-business day, we will collect it on next business day.
- · the deposit is made to the wrong account.
- the instruction is not complete (see above for complete instructions).

Ring-fencing large withdrawals

We have the right to ring-fence when we receive sell orders from investors that are more than a defined threshold (Notice 573 of CISCA applies). A large withdrawal from the fund may result in the fund manager having to sell some of the underlying investments of the fund to come up with the cash needed to settle the sell order of the investors. Ring-fencing means separating assets and delaying the sale of units. We do this so that we are not forced to sell the underlying investments at a price that could have a negative impact on other investors. If your sell instruction is affected by such a ring-fencing, we will contact you to discuss the process.

You may not trade your units in a manner prejudicial to other investors

Certain practices may have a prejudicial effect on other investors in a fund. We may monitor your account for patterns of trading and transaction sizes for practices such as market timing, which is an arbitrage method where an investor systematically purchases and sells units within a short time period taking advantage of imperfections in the determination of the net asset value of funds. These practices are not acceptable as it affects the performance of the funds through an increase in costs or a dilution of profits caused by the increase in trading.

We therefore expressly reserve our rights to reject instructions for switches from an investor where we have reason to believe that the investor is engaging in such practices to ensure that we can take the necessary steps to protect the other investors in the funds.

4. About your payments received

You declare the money you invest is from a legitimate source.

You declare that the money you invest comes from a legitimate source. You agree to answer any questions on the source of money you use for this investment and give extra information, where necessary.

Payment of uncleared amounts

Lump sum investments, once-off debit orders and recurring debit orders clear after 45 calendar days, and Electronic Funds Transfers (EFTs), after 14 calendar days.

We can collect your money by debit order

If we are unable to collect your monthly debit order for any reason, we will reverse the units we bought for that transaction at no cost to you. However, you will be responsible for any bank charges we incur as a result. We will debit your account with the units allocated to you.

If your debit order does not go through on three consecutive occasions, we will automatically cancel the debit order. This means that you will have to complete a new debit order instruction form to reinstate the debit order.

5. About fees and costs

Fees

The following fees apply to this investment. By signing this Application Form, you agree to these fees and confirm that you understand how they impact the value of your investment.

Financial adviser initial fee (payable to your adviser)	The initial fee plus VAT is payable upfront. This is deducted from any amount we receive, and the net amount is invested in the fund.
Financial adviser annual fee (payable to your adviser)	The annual fee is an annual percentage (for example, x%) of your investment value. It is calculated every day and deducted from your investment value monthly.
Annual management fees (payable to us)	The annual management fees for each fund you invest in are set out in the relevant minimum disclosure documents. It is calculated every day and deducted from the fund itself in accordance with CISCA. An annual management fee can have a fixed component (which means that it is charged as a percentage of the fund's value) and a performance-based component. The minimum disclosure document of the fund will se out whether performance fees are charged, and if so, how it is calculated and at what rates.

Funds with higher fees

- 1. **A fund of funds** is a portfolio that invests in portfolios of collective investment schemes, which set their own fees. This could result in a higher fee structure for the fund of funds.
- 2. A feeder fund is a portfolio that consists only of units in a single portfolio of another collective investment scheme, which sets its own fees. This could result in a higher fee structure.

Costs carried by the fund

Apart from the annual management fees, the following costs are deducted from the fund in accordance with CISCA.

- Any charge payable when buying or selling assets of the portfolio such as :
 - brokerage (what brokers on the stock exchange earn for buying and selling securities)
 - securities transfer tax (STT)
 - o value added tax (VAT)
- auditor's fees
- bank charges
- trustee and custodian fees
- any other levies and taxes

The costs are thus shared equally by all investors in proportion to the number of units they own. The deduction of the costs decreases the net asset value of the fund. Although you do not pay for the above costs directly like you do with fees, it still impacts the value of your investment.

Taxes

The taxes payable in relation to the underlying investments of a fund may impact the value of your investment and are included in the costs of the fund. (TER - Total Expense Ratio and EAC -Effective Annual Costs - EAC).

Value-added tax payable on the services rendered to you by us or your financial adviser will be levied at the rate applicable from time to time. We are also required to apply dividend withholding tax (DWT) in respect of your investment at the applicable rate.

We do not have to notify you of the changes in these rates from time to time as they apply as a matter of law, but we may communicate it to you for your informational purposes. You can also consult your tax certificates at the end of a tax year to see what taxes applied to your investment during the reporting period.

6. About unclaimed assets

An unclaimed asset is any unit trust investment where there have been no transactions for ten years. In the case of a deceased estate, it is where more than three years have passed since we have received the notice of death. Our policy is to continue reinvesting all income distributions until the unit trust is sold, regardless of the time frame.

According to ASISA's Unclaimed Assets standard, we follow a process of tracing investors or beneficiaries on any unclaimed assets. We can recover reasonable administrative costs from the value of the portfolio, which will reduce the investment value. We stop tracing when the investment value goes below R1000 or when the costs of tracing exceed the benefit of tracing. More information on the ASISA Standard on Unclaimed Assets and the processes is available on www.asisa.org.za or from our Client Contact Centre on 0860 100 266.

To prevent your investment becoming an unclaimed asset, it is your responsibility to inform us of any changes in your personal information.

7. Shari'ah compliant Funds

Shari'ah" or "Shari'ah Compliant" refers to Islamic Law as interpreted by the Shari'ah Advisory Committee appointed by the Fund

"Shari'ah Advisory Committee" or "SAC" is an independent body of specialist in Islamic commercial law entrusted with the duty of directing, reviewing, and supervising the activities of the Fund.

The client accepts that a Shari'ah compliant fund will be managed according to the guidelines issued by the Shari'ah Advisory Committee (SAC).

The client accepts that any income deemed to be non-permissible by the SAC will be paid to the charitable organizations approved by the SAC in accordance with the principles of Shari'ah. The client accepts that such non-permissible income (NPI) does not form part of their income nor will such NPI be re-invested.

For tax purposes, income may be recorded as interest on the clients' tax certificate, but that this is for recording purposes only. The client understands that this income is Shari'ah compliant as approved by the SAC.

8. Using and sharing your personal information

The Sanlam Privacy Statement

Your privacy is important to us. We will use personal information about you, your beneficiaries and dependants only in line with our <u>privacy statement</u>. Our Privacy Statement applies to the processing of your personal information by us.

You consent to the processing of your personal information

By completing and signing an application form and/or investing with us, you consent to the collection and processing of your personal information. If you are investing on behalf a minor child, you warrant that you are the competent person to consent on behalf of such child.

We mainly collect personal information about you to offer you the best service and to comply with applicable law. You will either provide the information to us directly (for example in the Application Form) or we may collect the information from other sources (for example an identity verification tool). We will also process your personal information for all of the further purposes set out in our **privacy statement** as published on our website from time to time.

If you refuse to provide certain personal information which are mandatory to provide to comply with law or to support your application, we may reject your transactions (which may cause a delay in processing your instruction) or refuse to do further business with you.

Privacy Statement

We may update the privacy statement as published on our website from time to time. By remaining invested with us you consent to us processing your personal information in the manner and for the purposes described in the privacy statement.

What we use your personal information for

We use your personal information for the purposes set out in our privacy statement. You give us permission to share your personal information in certain circumstances

The services and products we provide are of such a nature that it is often necessary to share personal information with third parties to render an effective service. The privacy statement sets out who we share your information with, under which circumstances and for which purposes.

If you have indicated your consent on the Application Form to receive marketing information, then we will share your personal information for possible marketing or cross-selling purposes within the Sanlam Group.

Protecting your personal information

We will take all reasonable steps necessary to secure the integrity of any personal information which we hold about you and to safeguard it against unauthorized access. We will keep your information confidential and secure. You understand that we cannot guarantee the security of information that you send to us by electronic means, and you do so at your own risk.

Tell us about any changes to your personal information

It is your responsibility to tell us about changes to your name, address, contact details and banking details. An Investor Details Update form is available from www.sanlamunittrusts.co.za.

9. Our conflict-of-interest policy

We manage, report, and disclose all actual and potential conflicts of Interest in line with the Managers Conflicts of Interest and Outsourcing Policy. You can ask us for a copy or find it at www.sanlamunittrusts.co.za.

10. Complaints

We aim to give you outstanding client service, but sometimes things go wrong. If you are dissatisfied with our service, or any of our products have disappointed you, we would like to hear about it. Please get in touch:

Phone: 0860 100 266

• Email: complaints@sci.sanlam.com

Complete a complaint form online at http://www.sanlamunittrusts.co.za

Visit your nearest Sanlam office.

Your views are important to us. A designated complaints team will investigate and try to resolve it as soon as possible and in a fair manner.

If the complaint has not been resolved to your satisfaction, you may refer it to the Sanlam Arbitrator. The Sanlam Arbitrator is an impartial person that settles disputes between dissatisfied clients and Sanlam:

• Email: arbitrator@sanlam.co.za

• Fax: +27 21 957-1786

Disclaimer

Sanlam Group is a full member of the Association for Savings and Investment SA. Collective investment schemes are generally medium to long term investments. Please note that past performances are not necessarily an accurate determination of future performances, and that the value of investments / units / unit trusts may go down as well as up. A schedule of fees and charges and maximum commissions is available from the Manager, Sanlam Collective Investments (RF) Pty Ltd, a registered and approved Manager in Collective Investment Schemes in Securities. Additional information of the proposed investment, including brochures, application forms and annual or quarterly reports, can be obtained from the Manager, free of charge. Collective investments are traded at ruling prices and can engage in borrowing and scrip lending. Collective investments are calculated on a net asset value basis, which is the total market value of all assets in the portfolio including any income accruals and less any deductible expenses such as audit fees, brokerage and service fees. Actual investment performance of the portfolio and the investor will differ depending on the initial fees applicable, the actual investment date, and the date of reinvestment of income as well as dividend withholding tax. Forward pricing is used. The Manager does not provide any guarantee either with respect to the capital or the return of a portfolio. The performance of the portfolio depends on the underlying assets and variable market factors. Performance is based on NAV to NAV calculations with income reinvestments done on the expiry date. Lump sum investment performances are quoted. The portfolio may invest in other unit trust portfolios which levy their own fees and may result is a higher fee structure for our portfolio. All the portfolio options presented are approved collective investment schemes in terms of Collective Investment Schemes Control Act, No 45 of 2002 ("CISCA"). International investments or investments in foreign securities could be accompanied by additional risks as well as potential limitations on the availability of market information. The Manager has the right to close any portfolios to new investors to manage them more efficiently in accordance with their mandates. The portfolio management of all the portfolios is outsourced to financial services providers authorized in terms of the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act, 2002. Standard Bank of South Africa Ltd is the appointed trustee of the Sanlam Collective Investments Scheme.